# Ka vs Ku band HTS

A performance assessment and comparison of

Ka vs Ku Band HTS

www.avanti.space



Prepared By	Marios Fotiou
Date	08/04/2021
Document Ref.	Ka vs Ku

© Avanti Broadband Limited

This document contains confidential and proprietary information, the copyright of which belongs to Avanti Communications Limited, and is intended only for the addressee to whom this copy has been supplied. The recipient shall neither copy, distribute or otherwise use the information contained in this document for any purpose other than that for which it has been made available, nor permit anyone else to do the same without prior written authorisation from Avanti Communications. The recipient shall be held liable for any wrongful disclosure or use of any information contained in this document by him, his officers or employees, or anyone else to whom he makes the information available.

Avanti Broadband Limited Cobham House, 20 Black Friars Lane London EC4V 6EB, UNITED KINGDOM Tel: +44 (0)207 749 1600 Fax: +44 (0)207 749 1633

"This Proposal sets out the terms of which Avanti would be prepared to contract, subject to the finalisation and execution of a legally binding contract for services/goods. Nothing contained in this Proposal or any other communication made between Avanti or its representatives and any party shall constitute an agreement, contract or representation between Avanti and any other party. Submission by Avanti of this Proposal does not imply the existence of a contract or commitment by or with Avanti for any purpose."



## Contents

Ka vs Ku ł	band HTS	1
Executi	ve Summary	
1. Intr	oduction	5
1.1.	An Introduction to High Throughput Satellites	5
1.2.	Scope of the White Paper	6
2. Ka-	and Ku-band High Throughput Satellites: Advantages and Disadvantages	7
2.1.	Definitions	7
2.2.	Frequency Dependence on Throughput	
2.3.	Beamwidth Dependence on Throughput	11
2.4.	Consideration of Atmospheric Loss and System Noise Temperature	14
2.5.	Effect on Disadvantage of Ku-band C/N compared to Ka-band C/N	
2.6	Additional Spectrum at Ka-band and Effect on C/N	
3. Co	nclusion	
Bibliograp	ohy	24



## **Executive Summary**

This paper presents a fair and unbiased comparison of Ku- and Ka-band High Throughput Satellite (HTS) systems. It will be shown that:

- C/N (and therefore throughput) is dependent on beamwidth. However, as beamwidth is dependent on frequency, so too is the C/N.
- When moving to Ku- instead of Ka-band frequencies, for the C/N not to be negatively affected, the Ku-band HTS must employ a much larger diameter antenna on the satellite in space than the Ka-band HTS. The Ku-band HTS must also achieve comparable spot beam beamwidths.
- While Ka-band HTS spot beams' can achieve beamwidths of < 0.5°, state-of-the-art Ku-band HTS antennas can only produce spot beams with beamwidths of > 0.8°, with typical Ku-band spot beams having beamwidths of about 2°.
- Even when considering greater atmospheric losses and noisier receivers at Ka-band, the Ka-band HTS system performs better than the Ku-band HTS system both in clear sky conditions (95% availability) and poor weather conditions (99% availability). This is true for both the uplink and downlink.
- During severe weather conditions (99.9% availability) the Ku-band HTS system outperforms the Ka-band HTS system, but only if the Ku-band spot beam has a beamwidth of less than ~1.3° and ~1° for uplink and downlink respectively. This benefit will only be seen for approximately 8.8 hours in a calendar year.
- There is much more spectrum available at Ka-band than at Ku-band, and given that Ka-band transponders are much wider than Ku-band transponders (250 MHz vs. 36 Hz), Ka-band HTS operators can deliver high-throughput services using single transponders. To provide a comparable service, Ku-band HTS operators will have to use several transponders, thus depleting an already more meagre resource.



## 1. Introduction

## 1.1. An Introduction to High Throughput Satellites

High Throughput Satellites (HTS) are a new type of satellite that are capable of providing a large amount of throughput compared to older FSS, BSS and MSS satellites, whilst using the same amount of allocated orbital spectrum. There is one fundamental difference in the architecture of a HTS system compared to a non-HTS system that allows them to achieve this:

- HTS systems use several spot beams to cover the desired service area (see Figure 1 as an example);
- Non-HTS systems uses one or more wide beams to cover the desired the desired service area (see Figure 2 as an example).







Figure 2: Partial ASTRA 2A coverage over Europe (2)

The benefits of using spot beams as opposed to wide beams are two-fold:

#### 1. Higher transmit / receive gain

The gain of an antenna is proportional to its beamwidth which means that using a spot beam instead of a wide beam leads to an increase in power transmitted from the satellite and power received by the satellite.

This in turn leads to an increase in the rate of data transmission per unit of orbital spectrum (known as the spectral efficiency), i.e. the throughput increases.

#### 2. Frequency re-use

High Throughput Satellites often have a much greater frequency capacity than conventional satellites, even though their frequency allocation might be the same. This is due to the fact that High Throughput Satellites position their spot beam footprints such that several beams use the same frequency and polarisation. This can be achieved due to the high directivity of the spot beam antenna.



The italicised terms are described below:

- Directivity :
  - As opposed to wide beams where the transmitted power is spread over a large area, the transmitted power in a spot beam is spread over a small area. This means that the spot beams have high directivity, i.e. the gain rolls off rapidly as we move away from the centre.
- Frequency:
  - The high roll-off associated with the gain of spot beam antennas means that the same block of frequency can be re-used multiple times for different spot beams as long as each beam has sufficient geographical separation because the interference from a nearby spot beam operating in the same block of frequency will be minimised.
- Polarisation:
  - Circularly polarised signals<sup>1</sup> (RHCP or LHCP) are also used to increase the frequency re-use factor. Antennas are able to receive one type of polarisation and effectively ignore the orthogonal type of polarisation even if both polarised signals are sent on the same frequency.

The allocation of a certain frequency block and polarisation to a spot beam is often called a 'colour'. The usage of 2 separate frequency blocks and 2 polarisations results in 4 unique colours which can be allocated to a High Throughput Satellite's spot beams. Neighbouring spot beams are not permitted to use the same 'colour' as that would lead to excessive interference.

Indeed, '4-colour frequency re-use schemes' are commonly employed in High Throughput Satellites as this scheme leads to a very high frequency re-use factor. An example of such a scheme can be viewed in Figure 1.

Table 1: The benefits of using spot beams as opposed to wide beams

### **1.2. Scope of the White Paper**

The question of Ku- vs. Ka-band is contested online and in the media, and recent releases by Harris CapRock (3) (4) and Panasonic (5) (6) (7) are keen to state that Ku-band HTS satellites are superior to Ka-band HTS systems. The claims made in these papers cannot be taken at face value as the paper and the authors are not impartial; both Harris CapRock<sup>2</sup> and Panasonic<sup>3</sup> have agreed to lease significant amounts of capacity from Ku-band HTS systems.

As such, this white paper will assess the claims made in these papers and present an impartial, unbiased and factual exposition on the advantages and disadvantages of Ku-band HTS systems compared to Ka-band HTS systems. It will be shown that generally, Ka-band HTS systems outperform Ku-band HTS systems except in very specific cases where several assumptions must hold.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Circularly polarised signals can be thought of in non-technical terms as rotating signals. The signal is said to be 'left-hand circularly polarised' (LHCP) or 'right-hand circularly polarised' (RHCP) dependent on whether the signal is rotating in a clockwise or counter-clockwise fashion with respect to the direction of propagation. LHCP is said to be orthogonal to RHCP, and vice-versa.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 2012, Intelsat announced an agreement with Harris CapRock, with Harris CapRock agreeing to lease more than 1.2 Gbps from Intelsat 29e over a period of 10 years (42). <sup>3</sup> In 2012, Intelsat announced an agreement with Panasonic Avionics Corporation, with Panasonic agreeing to lease 1 Gbps over a period of 10 years (43).



## 2. Ka- and Ku-band High Throughput Satellites: Advantages and Disadvantages

## 2.1. Definitions

The introductory section of this white paper provided a brief overview of the typical architecture and features of a High Throughput Satellite. We saw that the main benefits of a HTS system were:

- 1. *Higher transmit / receive gain* due to the narrower nature of the beams, leading to more power transmitted from the satellite to the user terminals, and more power received from the user terminals by the satellite;
- 2. *Frequency re-use* where allocated orbital spectrum can be reused multiple times on HTS systems to vastly increase the spectral capacity, thus reducing the cost per bit.

However, we have not yet assessed and compared the qualities of Ku-band and Ka-band HTS systems.

The metric that is used to measure the efficacy of a High Throughput Satellite is the throughput – the amount of information that can be transmitted to or by the user over the satellite communications link over a given unit of time. The throughput essentially depends on the amount of orbital spectrum dedicated to send that data (the carrier bandwidth, B) and the overall quality of the signal with respect to noise (the carrier-to-noise ratio, C/N).

Before satellite operators order a satellite from a manufacturer, they must ensure that their envisioned system will be capable of producing signals with adequate C/N values; an analytical assessment known as a 'link budget' is undertaken to show what kind of service could be expected. These analyses show that the link between the satellite and the gateway is never a limiting factor due to the powerful amplifiers used by the gateway and the installation of a large antenna.

The weakest part of the overall satellite communications link is the link between the satellite and the user:

- 1. If the data is being transmitted from the gateway to the user, the weakest part of the link is the forward downlink;
- 2. If the data is being transmitted from the user to the gateway, the weakest part of the link is the **return uplink**.

Let us now look at how the C/N for both of these links is calculated. In the following discussion the definitions below shall apply:

A <sub>e</sub>	Effective antenna aperture area	[m²]
В	Bandwidth	[Hz]
С	Speed of light	[ms <sup>-1</sup> ]
C/N	Carrier-to-noise ratio	[none]
D	Diameter of the antenna	[m]
f	Frequency	[Hz]
G	Maximum gain of the antenna (at the centre of the beam, the boresight)	[none]
k	Boltzmann constant	[WK <sup>-1</sup> Hz <sup>-1</sup> ]
L <sub>FS</sub>	Free space path loss	[none]
Latm	Atmospheric loss	[none]
Р	Power supplied to the antenna by its high power amplifier	[W]
r	Slant range between the ground earth station (user terminal or gateway) and the satellite	[m]
Т	Receive system noise temperature	[K]
η	Antenna efficiency	[none]
<b>0</b> 3dB	3 dB beamwidth (the angular offset from the antenna boresight where the gain is half of its maximum value)	[°]

Any terms with a subscript *s* refer to the satellite and any terms with a subscript *t* refer to the user terminal.

## 2.2. Frequency Dependence on Throughput

The C/N of the forward downlink can be shown to be

$$rac{C}{N} = rac{P_{
m s}G_{
m s}G_{
m t}}{L_{
m atm}L_{
m FS}kBT_{
m t}}$$
 Eq 1

where the definitions above apply. But what is the dependence of C/N on the frequency of transmission? To answer this question, we must further define some of the terms in Eq.1. The gain of an antenna can be shown to be

where  $A_e$  is the effective area of the antenna aperture. Assuming that the antenna reflector is parabolic, we can rewrite the gain in terms of the diameter of the reflector:



$$A_e = \frac{\eta \pi D^2}{4} \rightarrow G = \eta \left(\frac{\pi D f}{c}\right)^2 \qquad \qquad \text{Eq 3}$$

Additionally, the free space path loss can be shown to be:

$$L_{\rm FS} = \left(\frac{c}{4\pi r f}\right)^2 \qquad \qquad \text{Eq 4}$$

Inserting Eqs 3 and 4 into Eq 1, we obtain

$$\frac{C}{N} = \frac{P_{\rm s}}{L_{\rm atm} k B T_{\rm t}} \times \eta_{\rm s} \left(\frac{\pi D_{\rm s} f}{c}\right)^2 \times \eta_{\rm t} \left(\frac{\pi D_{\rm t} f}{c}\right)^2 \times \left(\frac{c}{4\pi r f}\right)^2 \qquad \text{Eq 5}$$

We can remove duplicate terms and simplify to show that

$$\frac{C}{N} = \frac{P_{\rm s}\eta_{\rm s}\eta_{\rm t}}{L_{\rm atm}kBT_{\rm t}} \times \left(\frac{\pi D_{\rm s}D_{\rm t}f}{4cr}\right)^2 \to \frac{C}{N} \propto \frac{(D_{\rm s}D_{\rm t}f)^2}{L_{\rm atm}BT_{\rm t}} \qquad \qquad {\it Eq.6}$$

The equation above shows that the C/N is proportional to ( $\alpha$ ) several variables, including the square of frequency. This means that if the frequency is decreased from Ka-band to Ku-band, and all other variables are kept constant, there will be a decrease in C/N<sup>4</sup>. A decrease in C/N results in a decrease in throughput. This is in direct contradiction to the claims made in several pro Ku-band papers, who say that the C/N and hence throughput are not dependent on frequency. So what is the truth?

#### The Truth:

From Eq 6 we can see that assuming that the user terminal diameter and the denominator is held constant, **the** only way for the C/N to be independent of frequency is for the satellite antenna diameter to increase in order to offset the decrease in frequency.

Table 1 and Table 2 below shows typical downlink and uplink frequencies associated with the Ku- and Ka-bands:

Band	Downlink frequency [GHz]	Midpoint [GHz]
Ku-band	10.9 – 12.75	11.8
Ka-band	18.0 - 20.0	19.0

Table 1: Ku- and Ka-band downlink frequencies and midpoints (iDirect, 2014)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It should be noted that in reality L<sub>atm</sub> and T<sub>t</sub> also increase as the frequency increases, i.e. L<sub>atm</sub> and T<sub>t</sub> are greater at Ka-band than they are of Ku-band. The effect this has on the C/N is not being ignored, but will be assessed later.



Band	Uplink frequency [GHz]	Midpoint [GHz]
Ku-band	14.0	14.0
Ka-band	26.5 - 40.0	28.4 <sup>5</sup>

Table 2: Ku- and Ka-band uplink frequencies and midpoints (34)

We can use the midpoint downlink frequencies outlined in the Table 1 above to show the effect on C/N of dropping from Ka-band to Ku-band (assuming  $D_{t_r} L_{atm_r} B$  and  $T_t$  remain constant). Eq 6 can be manipulated to compare the C/N of the Ku-band HTS system to the C/N of the Ka-band HTS system:

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} \propto \left(\frac{D_{\rm s,Ku} f_{\rm Ku}}{D_{\rm s,Ka} f_{\rm Ka}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka}$$
 Eq 7

If we keep the diameter of the antenna the same and drop from the Ka-band frequency to the Ku-band frequency, we find that

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} = 0.38 \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka}$$
 Eq.8

or in terms of dB,

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} - \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka} = -4.14 \text{ dB}$$
 Eq 9

In order to counteract this effect, the Ku-band satellite's antenna diameter will have to increase substantially:

$$D_{
m Ku} = 1.61 imes D_{
m Ka}$$
 Eq 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Frequencies greater than 30 GHz are reserved for governmental and military applications. As such, the mid-point between 26.5 GHz and 30.0 GHz has been used.



## 2.3. Beamwidth Dependence on Throughput

So what assumptions did the pro-KuBand HTS authors make to come to the conclusion that the C/N was frequency independent?

Well, for a given antenna diameter, as the frequency transmitted by an antenna increases, the beamwidth decreases, i.e. the beam becomes 'tighter' and more like a spot beam. This is because the beamwidth is inversely proportional to the frequency:

$$heta_{
m 3dB} = rac{70c}{fD_{
m s}}$$
 Eq 11

By rearranging and substituting Eq 11 into Eq 3, we can re-write the gain of the satellite antenna in terms of the beamwidth:

$$G = \eta \left(rac{70\pi}{ heta_{
m 3dB}}
ight)^2$$
 Eq 12

In a fashion similar to Eq 5, we can then show that

$$\frac{C}{N} = \frac{P_{\rm s}}{L_{\rm atm} k B T_{\rm t}} \times \eta_{\rm s} \left(\frac{70\pi}{\theta_{\rm 3dB}}\right)^2 \times \eta_{\rm t} \left(\frac{\pi D_{\rm t} f}{c}\right)^2 \times \left(\frac{c}{4\pi r f}\right)^2 \qquad \text{Eq 13}$$

and in a fashion similar to Eq 6 we can remove duplicate terms and further simplify to show that

$$\frac{C}{N} = \frac{P_{\rm s}\eta_{\rm s}\eta_{\rm t}}{L_{\rm atm}kBT_{\rm t}} \left(\frac{70D_{\rm t}}{4r\theta_{\rm 3dB}}\right)^2 \rightarrow \frac{C}{N} \propto \frac{D_{\rm t}^2}{\theta_{\rm 3dB}^2 L_{\rm atm}BT_{\rm t}} \qquad \text{Eq 14}$$

What can be inferred from Eq 14?

#### The Truth:

From Eq 14 we can see that assuming that  $D_t L_{atm} B$  and  $T_t$  are held constant as before, the C/N is dependent on the beamwidth (i.e. smaller beamwidth, larger C/N). However the C/N cannot be said to be independent of frequency as the beamwidth is dependent on both the frequency and diameter of the satellite antenna diameter.

It is true however that **two Ku-band and Ka-band HTS systems that employ spot beams with identical beamwidths will have a similar C/N** (maintaining the assumptions described above).



To examine this point further let us again consider a Ku- and a Ka-band HTS system, transmitting at the midpoint downlink frequencies outlined in Table 1. As before, we can manipulate Eq 14 to compare the C/N of the Ku-band HTS system to the C/N of the Ka-band HTS system:



The equation above assumes that  $D_t$ ,  $L_{atm}$ , B and  $T_t$  are held constant. If this is the case, we can see that if the Ka-band and Ku-band HTS systems spot beams have the same beamwidth, their C/N values will be the same.

However, we can insert the definition of the beamwidth (Eq 11) to find that Eq 15 becomes

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} \propto \left(\frac{D_{\rm s,Ku}f_{\rm Ku}}{D_{\rm s,Ka}f_{\rm Ka}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka}$$
 Eq 16

Note that **Eq 16 is exactly the same as Eq 7**. Inserting the frequencies once more will result in the exact same statements as those described in Eq 8 and Eq 9, thus showing that unless the diameter of the Ku-band satellite antenna increases substantially, the C/N of the Ku-band system will be approximately 60% less than the Ka-band system.

Above we looked at the case where the Ku- and Ka-band spot beam beamwidths were equal. However, as the frequency decreases, it becomes harder to maintain a small beamwidth. This is because the satellite antenna diameter must increase, as previously shown in Eq 11. As a result, Ka-band spot beam beamwidths can be less than 0.5°<sup>6</sup>, but Ku-band spot beam beamwidths are more likely to be around 2° (this is the approximate size of Intelsat 29e's spot beams, see (26)). According to McLain et al., the most state-of-the-art Ku-band satellite antennas are capable of transmitting spot beams with beamwidths of 0.8° (6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ka-band spot sizes of less than 0.5° are achievable, and although the throughput for such narrowed beams would be increased, they would not provide a sufficiently large footprint. As such, these narrower Ka-band beams are not considered in our analysis.



Band	Minimum achievable beamwidth, 03dB [°]
Ku-band	$0.8^{\circ} < \theta_{3dB} < 2^{\circ}$
Ka-band	θ <sub>3dB</sub> < 0.5°

Table 3: Minimum achievable beamwidths for Ku- and Ka-band spots

In Figure **3** below, we can see the effect on the Ku-band HTS C/N as the beamwidth is varied between the values outlined above. In this example, the Ka-band spot beam beamwidth has been kept constant at 0.5°. The data has been plotted using the following formula, where Eq 14 has been rearranged to show that

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} - \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka} = 20\log_{10}\left(\frac{\theta_{\rm 3dB,Ka}}{\theta_{\rm 3dB,Ku}}\right) [\rm dB] \qquad \qquad \textit{Eq 17}$$

assuming  $L_{atm}$ , B and  $T_t$  remain constant.

Even when the beamwidths are most similar, it can be seen that there is still an approximate -4 dB difference between the Ku-band C/N and the Ka-band C/N.



Figure 3: Disadvantage of (C/N)Ku compared to (C/N)Ka for a varying Ku-band spot beam beamwidth

Table 4 outlines the best-case and worst-case Ku-band C/N disadvantage when compared to Ka-band HTS systems:

Ku-band C/N disadvantage	
Best-case	- 4.1 dB
Worst-case	- 12.0 dB

Table 4: Ku-band C/N disadvantage



In conclusion, for a given user terminal size, it could be valid to say that the carrier-to-noise ratios and hence throughputs achieved through a Ku-band and Ka-band HTS are comparable, but only if the antenna diameter on the Ku-band HTS is significantly greater than the antenna diameter on the Ka-band HTS.

### 2.4. Consideration of Atmospheric Loss and System Noise Temperature

In the previous section, we showed that the C/N was proportional to

C $l$	$D_{t}^{2}$	
$\overline{N} \propto \overline{\theta_{3 \mathrm{dB}}^2}$	$L_{ m atm}BT_{ m t}$	Eq 18

as we moved from Ka-band to Ku-band, and we assumed that the following variables remained constant:

Dt	:	The user terminal diameter
L <sub>atm</sub>	:	The atmospheric loss
В	:	The carrier bandwidth
$T_t$	:	The user terminal

This allowed us to compare the C/N values of the Ku- and Ka-band systems using Eq 17:

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} - \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka} = 20\log_{10}\left(\frac{\theta_{\rm 3dB,Ka}}{\theta_{\rm 3dB,Ku}}\right) [\rm dB] \qquad \qquad Eq\,17$$

In reality however,  $L_{atm}$ , B and  $T_t$  will change, as they are dependent on the frequency of transmission, so Eq 17 will no longer be valid. To compare the C/N values of the Ku- and Ka-band systems, the following equation must be used:

$$\left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ku} - \left(\frac{C}{N}\right)_{\rm Ka} = 20\log_{10}\left(\frac{\theta_{\rm 3dB,Ka}}{\theta_{\rm 3dB,Ku}}\right) + \Delta L_{\rm atm} + \Delta B + \Delta T_t \quad [\rm dB] \qquad \textit{Eq 19}$$

where  $\Delta B=B_{
m Ku}-B_{
m Ka}$ , etc. The following sections look at the effect of  $\it L_{\it atm}$ ,  $\it B$  and  $\it T_t$  on



### 2.4.1. Atmospheric Loss

Let us consider the atmospheric losses at Ka- and Ku-band. Table 5 below shows the expected atmospheric losses for uplink and downlink signals and Ku- and Ka-band. Please note that in the following examples, the frequencies used are as defined in Table 1 and Table 2.

	Atmospheric loss, Latm [dB]					
Availability [%]	Uplink			Downlink		
	Ku-band	Ka-band	$\Delta L_{atm}$	Ku-band	Ka-band	$\Delta L_{atm}$
95% (clear skies)	0.5	2.0	1.5	0.3	0.9	0.6
99%	1.0	4.1	3.1	0.7	2.1	1.4
99.9%	3.1	11.6	8.5	2.4	6.6	4.2

Table 5: Ku- and Ka-band atmospheric losses at various availabilities

From the table above, we can see that generally the atmospheric losses for Ka-band systems are greater than for Kuband systems. However, we note that:

- In relatively poor weather conditions (99% availability) the extra Ka-band uplink atmospheric loss (3.1 dB) is **less than** the best-case Ku-band C/N disadvantage (4.1 dB).
- In severe weather conditions (99.9% availability) the extra Ka-band uplink atmospheric loss (8.5 dB) is **less than** the worst-case Ku-band C/N disadvantage (12.0 dB).

We can also see that the downlink losses are less than the uplink losses so the above statements are also true in that case.

Table **6** below shows the various innovative techniques can be used in satellite communications systems to negate the effect of atmospheric loss:

Large antennas:	The gateways use large antennas (typically 9.2m). This means that the power received and transmitted is increased.	Improves: <ul> <li>Forward uplink</li> <li>Return downlink</li> </ul>
Powerful amplifiers:	The gateways use high-power amplifiers that can supply the antenna with large amounts of power.	Improves: <ul> <li>Forward uplink</li> </ul>
UPC (Uplink Power Control):	Both the gateways and the user terminals can use amplifiers that can increase the power supplied to the antenna in accordance to the measured atmospheric loss. For example, if the gateway senses that there is 5 dB of rain fade, the power supplied to the uplink antenna can be increased by that exact amount to negate the atmospheric loss.	Improves: • Forward uplink • Return uplink
ALC (Automatic Level Control)	In a similar fashion to UPC, the satellite can be instructed to ensure that same amount of power is	Improves: <ul> <li>Forward downlink</li> </ul>



	downlinked to the Earth, regardless of the amount of atmospheric loss. <sup>7</sup>	Return downlink
ACM (Adaptive Coding and Modulation)	Almost all of today's VSATs use ACM. A user terminal will be transmitting data using a certain modulation and coding (MODCOD) scheme. All VSATs will attempt to translate at the most efficient MODCOD, which results in the greatest throughput. However, this MODCOD is simultaneously the least robust to atmospheric losses as a certain C/N is required, below which the receiver will not be able to extract the transmitted data. As a result, as atmospheric losses increase, the VSAT terminal can choose to transmit at a less efficient but more robust MODCOD, maintaining connectivity at the expense of reduced throughput. The number of MODCODs available for choice by the transmitting antenna depends on the modem and air interface employed. This technique is also used by gateways.	Improves: • Forward uplink • Return uplink
Diverse gateway sites:	Heavy storm clouds that can cause atmospheric loss have a maximum diameter of about 10 km depending on the region. Through detailed local statistical analyses, it is possible to select two antenna locations where the probability of having severe weather over both geographic locations is extremely low. Gateway antennas can be built in these two locations, and whenever there is poor weather conditions at one antenna, services can be switched to the diverse antenna.	Improves: • Forward uplink • Return downlink

Table 6: Fade mitigation techniques

### 2.4.2. System Noise Temperature

The receive system noise temperature will also not remain constant as the frequency changes. In this section we will consider the downlink, i.e. the receive system noise temperature of the earth station, because the system noise temperature of a satellite varies dependent on the different types of components, antennas and amplifiers used.

The analysis in Table 8 shows how the system noise temperature varies for a Ku- and a Ka-band receiver, whilst Table 7 shows the equipment specifications used:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It should be noted that this does not entirely negate the effect of atmospheric loss experienced in the uplink stages because, although the faded carrier will have been amplified, so too will its noise. The main benefit of ALC is to ensure that every signal comes down to the gateway / users at the power, regardless of what the weather conditions were like at the uplink.

		1
AVA	Ν	тÌ
$\overline{\ }$	_	

	Antenna	LNB	
Ku-band	GD SATCOM, 1.2m Ku-band Rx/Tx, Series 1132 (35)	Norsat Ku-band DRO 4000 Series (36)	
Ka-band	GD SATCOM, 1.2m Ka-band Rx/Tx, Series 3122 (37)	Norsat Ka-band DRO 9000 Series (38)	

Table 7: Technical specifications used for system noise temperature analysis

	System noise temperature, Tt				
Availability [%]	Ku-band		Ka-band		
	$T_t[K]$	T <sub>t</sub> [dBK]	$T_t[K]$	T <sub>t</sub> [dBK]	$\Delta I_t$ [dB]
95% (clear skies)	173	22.4	254	24.0	1.7
99%	189	22.8	296	24.7	1.9
99.9%	251	24.0	396	26.0	2.0

Tabla C	· Sustam	noioo	tomporatura	analysis
i able c	D. SVSLEIII	noise	lennberalure	allaivsis

As can be seen above, the Ka-band receiver indeed suffers from a greater system noise temperature than a Ku-band receiver. The reasons for this are:

- The Ku-band LNB usually has a slightly better noise figure that the Ka-band LNB;
- Atmospheric loss is a contributor to total system noise temperature.

## 2.5 Effect on Disadvantage of Ku-band C/N compared to Ka-band C/N

In Figure 4 below we have taken the downlink results from Table 5 and Table 8 and applied them to the data used to plot Figure 3 to see what effect including the frequency-dependence on atmospheric loss and system noise temperature has when comparing the C/N values of a Ku- and Ka-band HTS system. (The bandwidth remains the same for both systems, so  $\Delta B = 0$ ).

From this figure we can see that in almost all cases, the Ka-band HTS system outperforms the Ku-band system. This is true for clear sky conditions (95% availability) and also relatively poor weather conditions (99% availability), and true even when the Ku-band HTS system employs the smallest possible spot beams. The only time that the Ku-band system performs better than the Ka-band system is when severe weather conditions are present (99.9% availability) and even then, only if the Ku-band spot beam has a beamwidth of approximately less than or equal to 1°. This benefit would only be realised for 100% - 99.9% = 0.1% of any given time period; for example ~44 minutes of an average month.



Figure 4: Comparison of downlink (C/N)Ku to (C/N)Ka at 3 availabilities with  $\Delta$ Latm and  $\Delta$ T  $\neq$  0, and  $\Delta$ B = 0

To assess the uplink case, we shall assume that the system noise temperature of the satellite does not vary dependent on the frequency of operation, as it is non-trivial to calculate the system noise temperature of the satellite and reasonable to assume that the Ku- and Ka-band HTS noise temperature shall be similar. We can then use the uplink atmospheric losses to compare the uplink C/N values of the Ku- and Ka-band HTS system:



Figure 5: Comparison of uplink (C/N)Ku to (C/N)Ka at 3 availabilities with  $\Delta$ Latm  $\neq$  0, and  $\Delta$ B,  $\Delta$ T = 0

Here we see that as before, the Ka-band system outperforms the Ku-band system in clear sky (95% availability) and relatively poor weather conditions (99% availability). During severe weather conditions, the Ku-band system can outperform the Ka-band system, but only if the Ku-band spot beam is approximately less than or equal to 1.3°. As before, this benefit would only be realised for 0.1% of any given time period (for example ~44 minutes of an average month).

It should be pointed out that the results presented in Figure **4** and Figure **5** above *do not include any of the fade mitigation techniques described in Table 6.* In the forward direction, techniques such as UPC and site diversity could be able to counter any fade experienced in both Ka- and Ku-band. Indeed, Ku-band systems do not use site diversity, so this advantage is only available to Ka-band systems.



## 2.6 Additional Spectrum at Ka-band and Effect on C/N

Let us now assess the bandwidth available in the Ku- and Ka-band systems. In Table **9** below, we can see the frequency allocations of each respective band, as decreed by the CEPT (European Conference of Postal and Telecommunications Administrations).

	Uplink	Downlink	Total uplink?	Total downlink?
Ku-band	12.75 – 13.25 GHz &	10.7 – 11.7 GHz &	1.25 GHz	1.25 GHz
	13.75 – 14.5 GHz	12.5 – 12.75 GHz		
Ka-band	27.5 – 30.0 GHz	17.3 to 20.2 GHz	2.5 GHz	2.9 GHz

Table 9: Frequencies allocations at Ku- and Ka-band (Electronic Communications Committee (ECC) within the European Conference of Postal and Telecommunications Administrations (CEPT), 2010)

It can be seen that the Ka-band has at least twice as much allocation of spectrum than the Ku-band in both the uplink and the downlink. This provides various advantages for the Ka-band HTS system.

The allocation of additional spectrum means that if necessary the Ka-band system could use a frequency re-use scheme with several colours which would negate the effect of any inter-spot-beam interference. Alternatively, the same colour scheme as a Ku-band system could be used, but with transponders that are much larger in size. Indeed, the average Ku-band transponder has a bandwidth of 36 MHz, but it is very common to see Ka-band transponders with bandwidths of up to 250 MHz.

Let us consider the most recent satellite transmission air interface standard, DVB-S2X (40). The introduction of this standard has resulted in ground equipment manufacturers creating modems / hubs that are capable of transmitting carriers at speeds of up to 225 MBaud. To calculate how much bandwidth would be required to transmit such a carrier, we can use the equation below,

$$B = R_{
m sym} imes (1 + lpha)$$
 Eq 20

where  $R_{sym}$  is the symbol rate and a is the filter roll-off factor. Assuming a roll-off factor of 10%, we can see that 250 MHz of bandwidth would be required to transmit such a carrier. This could be achieved by Ka-band HTS systems, but Ku-band HTS systems would only be able to transmit at 32.7 MBaud. These results are summarised in Table **10**:

	Available transponder bandwidth	Achievable symbol transmission rate
Ku-band	36 MHz	32.7 MBaud
Ka-band	250 MHz	225 MBaud

Table 10: Available transponder bandwidths and achievable symbol transmission rates at Ku- and Ka-band



In Figure **6** and Figure **7** below, the Ku-band C/N is compared to the Ka-band C/N when taking into account  $\Delta L_{atm} \Delta T_t$  and  $\Delta B$ , where  $\Delta B = 10 \log_{10}(36/250)$ .



Figure 6: Comparison of downlink (C/N)Ku to (C/N)Ka at 3 availabilities with  $\Delta$ Latm,  $\Delta$ T and  $\Delta$ B  $\neq$  0



Figure 7: Comparison of uplink (C/N)Ku to (C/N)Ka at 3 availabilities with  $\Delta$ Latm,  $\Delta$ B  $\neq$  0 and  $\Delta$ T = 0.

We can see that like-for-like, the Ka-band transponder out-performs the Ku-band transponder in all categories.

It should be pointed out that this advantage is only realised when considering single carriers; the Ka-band HTS can theoretically provide a service to a customer which delivers a 225 MBaud carrier using 250 MHz of spectrum but in comparison a Ku-band HTS cannot achieve this with a single transponder. Several transponders would need to be bonded together in an architecture that could be difficult to manage. Furthermore, by utilising several Ku-band transponders, the Ku-band HTS operator will decrease the amount of available spectrum, from a resource that is already smaller than at Ka-band.



## 3. Conclusion

This paper presented a fair and unbiased comparison of Ku- and Ka-band HTS systems. It was shown that:

- C/N (and therefore throughput) can be shown to be dependent on beamwidth. However, as beamwidth is dependent on frequency, so too is the C/N.
- When moving to Ku- instead of Ka-band frequencies, for the C/N not to be negatively affected, the Ku-band HTS must employ a much larger satellite antenna than the Ka-band HTS. The Ku-band HTS must also achieve comparable spot beam beamwidths.
- While Ka-band HTS spot beams' can achieve beamwidths of < 0.5°, state-of-the-art Ku-band HTS antennas can only produce spot beams with beamwidths of > 0.8°, with Ku-band HTS spot beams expected to have beamwidths of about 2°.
- Even when considering greater atmospheric losses and noisier receivers at Ka-band, the Ka-band HTS system performs better than the Ku-band HTS system in both clear sky conditions (95% availability) and relatively poor weather conditions (99% availability). This is true for both the uplink and downlink.
- During severe weather conditions (99.9% availability) the Ku-band HTS system outperforms the Ka-band HTS system, but only if the Ku-band spot beam has a beamwidth of less than ~1.3° and ~1° for uplink and downlink respectively. This benefit will only be seen for approximately 44 minutes per average month.
- There is much more spectrum available at Ka-band than at Ku-band, and given that Ka-band transponders are much wider than Ku-band transponders (250 MHz vs. 36 Hz), Ka-band HTS operators can deliver high-throughput services using single transponders. To provide a comparable service, Ku-band HTS operators will have to use several transponders, thus depleting an already more meagre resource.



## **Bibliography**

1. Wikipedia. KA-SAT spot beams coverage. [Online]

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/High\_throughput\_satellite#mediaviewer/File:KA-SAT\_spot\_beams\_coverage.jpg.

2. SES. ASTRA 2A. SES - your satellite company. [Online] http://www.ses.com/4628782/astra-2a.

3. Harris CapRock. Ka-Band vs. Ku-band - What's Better | Fact Check. *A Closer Look at Next Generation High Throughput Satellites: Separating the Hype from the Real Benefits.* [Online] http://kafactcheck.com/.

4. —. Not All Bands Are Created Equal: A Closer Look at Ka & Ku High Throughput Satellites. *Harris CapRock.* [Online] 2012. http://www.harriscaprock.com/downloads/HarrisCapRock\_WhitePaper-Ka-Ku\_Analysis.pdf.

5. **McLain, C., et al., et al.** High Throughput Ku-band Satellites for Aeronautical Applications. *IFExpress - Your Inflight Entertainment & Connectivity Point.* [Online] 2012. http://airfax.com/blog/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/MILCOM-2012-High-Throughput-Ku-band-Satellites-for-Aeronautical-Applications.pdf.

6. **McLain, C., Panthi, S. and Hetrick, J.** High Throughput Ku-band for Aero Applications. *Intelsat General Corporation.* [Online] http://www.intelsatgeneral.com/sites/default/files/ICSSC%20High%20Throughput%20Ku-Band%20for%20Aero%20Applications%2020120903%20final.pdf.

7. **McLain, C.** Spectrum for In-Flight Connectivity. *Asia-Pacific Satellite Communications Council.* [Online] Q2 2014. http://www.apscc.or.kr/upload/pdf/Q2%202014.pdf.

8. IPSTAR. IPSTAR Fact Sheet. [Online] February 2013. http://www.ipstar.com/pdf/IPSTARfactsheet.pdf.

9. **United Nations.** *Highlights in Space 2005: Progress in Space Science, Technology and Applications, International Cooperation and Space Law.* s.l. : United Nations, Office for Outer Space Affairs, 2005. p. 16. ISBN 13: 9789211554243.

10. **Aramvith, S., et al., et al.** Innovative Broadband Models for Digital Inclusion. [Online] August 2009. www.itu.int/dms\_pub/itu-t/oth/29/02/T2902000070051PPTE.ppt.

11. **THAICOM Public Company Limited.** THAICOM Coverage. *THAICOM-4 (IPSTAR) Service Footprint*. [Online] July 2013. http://www.ipstar.com/pdf/thaicom\_coverage.pdf.

12. IPSTAR. IPSTAR User Terminals. [Online] 2010.

http://www.support.ipstar.com/\_layouts/ContentDownload.aspx?ID=8B69F59BAEF24CA195CF9FEA67C8D58A3D5B 52B94E51E46E5856866F7E62DA065.

13. SES. Annual Report 2008. SES. [Online] 2008. http://www.ses.com/11380809/library/download.

14. EchoStar Knowledge Base. EchoStar Satellite and Orbital Slots. [Online] http://dishuser.org/satellites.php.



15. Echostar Satellite Operating L.L.C. Modification Application. *Federal Communications Commission*. [Online] 2008. licensing.fcc.gov/myibfs/download.do?attachment\_key=-154409.

16. **Baugh, C.** Defining the Satellite Broadband Market Eco-System: Present & Future Trends in HTS. [Online] December 2013. http://www.uk-emp.co.uk/app/download/5801152697/Day+1\_0915\_Chris+Baugh\_NSR.pdf.

17. Long, J. Dish Network Spotbeam Coverage from 129 degrees. [Online] http://jameslong.name/e129s.html.

18. Inmarsat. Global Xpress. *Inmarsat*. [Online] 2013. http://www.inmarsat.com/about-us/our-satellites/global-xpress/.

19. **Nicola, G. and Franci, M.** Rocket Science Made Simple. *Inmarsat.* [Online] October 2013. http://www.inmarsat.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Inmarsat\_Rocket\_Science\_Made\_Simple.pdf.

20. **Maritime Insight.** Intelsat EPIC under the spotlight. *Maritime Inslught.* [Online] August 2012. http://www.maritimeinsight.com/2012/08/07/intelsat-epic-under-the-spotlight/.

21. **Intelsat.** Intelsat EpicNG White Paper. [Online] March 2013. http://www.intelsat.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Epic\_White\_Paper.pdf.

22. Satbeams. Intelsat 29e. [Online] http://www.satbeams.com/satellites?id=2636.

23. -. Intelsat 33e. [Online] http://www.satbeams.com/satellites?id=2658.

24. '**frequencyplansatellite.altervista.org'.** Intelsat 29e Provisional Frequency Plan. [Online] http://frequencyplansatellites.altervista.org/Intelsat/Intelsat\_29e.pdf.

25. **Collet, J.** No monopoly for High Throughput Satellite (HTS) services at sea. [Online] January 2013. http://www.thedigitalship.com/conferences/presentations/2013scandinavia/day1/DSBergen2013\_james\_collet.pdf.

26. **Hughes Network Systems, LLC.** The View from JUPITER: High-Throughput Satellite Systems. [Online] July 2013. http://www.hughes.com/resources/the-view-from-jupiter-high-throughput-satellite-systems.

27. Intelsat License LCC. Annual Satellite Status Report. *Federal Communications Commission*. [Online] July 2013. http://apps.fcc.gov/ecfs/document/view?id=7520939881.

28. **Intelsat General Corporation.** The Next Generation Platform for Escalating SATCOM Needs – Intelsat EpicNG. *SATCOM FRONTIER.* [Online] April 2013. http://www.intelsatgeneral.com/blog/next-generation-platform-escalating-satcom-needs-intelsat-epicng.

29. **SES.** SES Contracts Airbus Defence and Space To Manufacture SES-12 Satellite For Launch In Q4 2017. *SES - your satellite company.* [Online] July 2014. http://www.ses.com/4233325/news/2014/19799323.

30. **de Selding, P.** SES Jumps on Electric-propulsion Bandwagon with Latest Satellite Order. *SpaceNews*. [Online] July 2014. http://www.spacenews.com/article/satellite-telecom/41288ses-jumps-on-electric-propulsion-bandwagon-with-latest-satellite.



31. SatBeams. SES-12. [Online] http://www.satbeams.com/satellites?id=2657.

32. **SES.** NSS-6 coverage. *SES - your satellite company.* [Online] September 2014. http://www.ses.com/4629055/nss-6.pdf.

33. –. SES Global Access Services (SGAS) Brochure. *SES - your satellite company.* [Online] August 2013. http://www.ses.com/16003893/SES-SGAS-brochure.pdf.

34. **iDirect.** Frequency Bands. *iDirect.* [Online] 2014. http://www.idirect.net/Company/Resource-Center/Satellite-Basics/Frequency-Bands.aspx.

35. **GD SATCOM.** 1.2m Ku-Band Rx/Tx, Series 1132 Technical Specifications. *GD SATCOM*. [Online] 2011. http://www.gdsatcom.com/vsat/datasheets/1000-010.pdf.

36. **Norsat.** Ku-Band DRO 4000 Series LNB Technical Specifications. *Norsat.* [Online] 2013. http://www.norsat.com/wp-content/uploads/4000\_lnb1.pdf.

37. **GD SATCOM.** 1.2m Ka-Band Antenna, Series 3122 Technical Specifications. *GD SATCOM.* [Online] 2012. http://www.gdsatcom.com/vsat/datasheets/1000-027.pdf.

38. **Norsat.** Ka-Band DRO 900 LNB Technical Specifications. *Norsat.* [Online] 2013. http://www.norsat.com/wp-content/uploads/9000\_lnb2.pdf.

39. Electronic Communications Committee (ECC) within the European Conference of Postal and Telecommunications Administrations (CEPT). The Use of the Frequency Bands 27.5 - 30.0 GHz and 17.3 - 20.2 GHz by Satellite Networks. *European Communications Office Documentation Database.* [Online] 2010. http://www.erodocdb.dk/docs/doc98/official/pdf/ECCRep152.pdf.

40. **DVB.** Digital Video Broadcasting (DVB); Second generation framing structure, channel coding and modulation systems for Broadcasting, Interactive Services, News Gathering and other broadband satellite applications; Part II: S2-Extensions (DVB-S2X) - (Optional). *DVB.* [Online] March 2014. https://www.dvb.org/resources/public/standards/a83-2\_dvb-s2x\_den302307-2.pdf.

41. **Intelsat.** Frequently Asked Quetions. [Online] http://www.intelsat.com/infrastructure/intelsat-epicng/frequently-asked-questions/.

42. –. Harris CapRock Selects the Intelsat EpicNG High Performance Platform to Provide Advanced Broadband Infrastructure. *Intelsat.* [Online] July 2012. http://www.intelsat.com/news/harris-caprock-selects-the-intelsat-epicng-high-performance-platform-to-provide-advanced-broadband-infrastructure/.

43. –. Panasonic Avionics Corporation Commits to Intelsat EpicNG Platform for Delivery of Consumer Broadband Services for Commercial Airlines. *Intelsat.* [Online] July 2012. http://www.intelsat.com/news/panasonic-avionics-corporation-commits-to-intelsat-epicng-platform-for-delivery-of-consumer-broadband-services-for-commercial-airlines/.